










1

From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Monday, March 15, 2010 10:59 AM
To: Sean Jeffries; Steven Hood; rgolesorkhi@treadwellrollo.com; derrick.roorda@de-

simone.com
Cc: Robert Beck; Andrew W. Schwartz; Sheryl Bregman
Subject: Results of Settlement Surveys at 301 Mission Street
Attachments: 2010-03-12_Memo_301 Mission Settlement Results.pdf

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
In accordance with the easement agreement between Millennium Partners and the TJPA, attached are the results of the 
settlement surveys at 301 Mission Street as recorded from April 2009 to March 1st 2010. This information is not for public 
release.  
 
Brian Dykes 
Principal Engineer 
Transbay Joint Powers Authority 
201 Mission Street, Suite 2100 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
415 597 4617 phone 
415 597 4615 fax 
 
 
Check out our progress at http://temporaryterminal.org/webcam 

NOTE: This e-mail communication and any attachments hereto are covered by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C. Sections 2510-2521, and 
are legally privileged. The information contained herein is confidential, and is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is addressed. If you are 
not the intended recipient of this e-mail communication (or an employee or agent responsible for delivering this communication to its intended recipient(s)), you are 
hereby notified that any retention, copying or further distribution of this e-mail communication and any attachments is strictly prohibited. If you are not the intended 
recipient, please notify the sender by telephoning 415-597-4620, or by forwarding an e-mail reply message addressed to TransAdmin@TransbayCenter.org 
confirming that you have already destroyed (deleted) the original e-mail communication and any and all copies thereof. Thank you. 



Memorandum
Page 1 of 2

\\S-FNAS01\JOBSIF\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\069 2010-03-12_MEMO_301 
MISSION SETTLEMENT RESULTS\MEMO-DK-20100312 SETTLEMENTS.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd F0.3
Rev 8.0, 1 November 2001

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Reference number 

132242/dk 

cc Robert Beck (TJPA) 
Gerry McClelland (PMPC),  
Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

File reference 

From Deme Koutsoftas 
Nick O'Riordan 

Date 

March 12, 2010 

Subject Transbay Transit Center:  Results of Settlement Surveys at the 301 Mission Property 

Under Arup’s Geotechnical Contract with the Transbay Joint Powers Authority (TJPA) through Pelli Clark Pelli 
Architects (PCPA), Arup is required to monitor the settlements of the buildings adjacent to the Transbay Transit 
Center (TTC) prior to and during construction.  We began the monitoring program for the 301 Mission property in 
April of 2009 in anticipation of construction commencing in 2010 on the east end of the TTC. 

Progress results of the monitoring program were presented in a memorandum dated October 15, 2009, which 
described the instrumentation, the scope of the monitoring program and results measured up to September 1, 
2009.  This memorandum updates the results of the monitoring program to include the measurements made 
between September 1, 2009 and March 1, 2010. 

1. Plate 1 summarizes the results of the latest survey conducted on March 1, 2010 as floor elevations at the 
first basement level under the Tower and the Podium structures.  Comparison of the high and low points 
under the high-rise Tower indicate a maximum differential settlement of 5.8 inches; and under the 
Podium of approximately 2 inches. 

2. Plate 2 summarizes differential floor elevations based on the latest survey of March 1, 2010, and it is just 
another way of presenting the data shown on Plate 1. 

3. Plate 3 shows contours of incremental settlements determined from the surveys, conducted on April 30, 
2009 (baseline) and the latest survey of March 1, 2010.  The results indicate an incremental settlement 
under the Tower of up to 0.76 inches, and under the Podium of 0.2 inches.  The middle and east side of 
the Podium appear to be fairly level. 

4. Plates 4 and 5 present plots of settlements versus time from selected monitoring points under the Tower 
and Podium, respectively.  Over the approximately 300-day monitoring period the settlements under the 
Tower range from 0.25 to 0.76 inches.  As reflected in Plate 3, there is an area of differential settlements 
along the southern portion of the Tower and the portion of the basement below the driveway where 
differential settlements are developing and appear to be increasing with time. 

5. Under the Podium the incremental settlements are very small as reflected by the plot of settlements versus 
time on Plate 5.  The differential settlements appear to be increasing with time between the Podium and 
the Tower.  Near the north end of the interface between the two areas the incremental differential 
settlement measured over the duration of the monitoring program is approaching 0.5 inches, while at the 
southern end the incremental differential settlement is on the order of 0.2 inches. 
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6. The results of the current monitoring program have been combined with settlement data provided by 
Millennium partners, and are presented on a semi-logarithmic plot on Plate 6. 

7. Periodic surveys of settlements will continue on a monthly basis until construction of the Transbay 
Transit Center begins. 

List of Plates

Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – March 1, 2010 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – March 1, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street Structure 

Between April 30, 2009 and March 1, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  April 30, 

2009 through March 1, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Midrise:  April 30, 

2009 through March 1, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
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From: Brian Dykes  
Sent: Friday, October 29, 2010 9:41 AM 
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano 
Subject: FW: Settlement of 301 Mission tower  
 
Steve and John, 
As per your request, I am sending you the latest settlement plot. 
Brian. 
 

From: Nick O'Riordan [mailto:nick.oriordan@arup.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, October 20, 2010 9:04 AM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: DeeDee Maggi; Kevin Clinch 
Subject: Settlement of 301 Mission tower  
 
Brian, As discussed yesterday, I attach the current settlement plot. The most recent survey date was 30 September. The 
trend continues, but with a slight reduction in creep rate over the past 6 months. Regards Nick 
 
 
 
Nick O'Riordan 
Principal  |  Leader Geotechnics 

 
Arup 
560 Mission Street, 7th Floor, San Francisco, CA 94105, USA 
t +1 415 957 9445  d +1 415 963 3886   
f +1 415 963 3886   m +1 415 774 6506 
www.arup.com 
 
 
Check out our progress at http://transbaycenter.org/construction-updates/construction-cameras 

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
Sent: Friday, January 14, 2011 4:31 PM
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano; Sean Jeffries
Cc: Nick O'Riordan
Subject: December Settlement Monitoring at 301 Mission Street
Attachments: 2011-01-05 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Dec 2010 Survey.pdf

Categories: Adjacent Properties

Steve, 
In response to your request during last month’s demolition of the old Transbay Terminal I requested that Arup provide the 
latest settlement monitoring readings as surveyed during December.  
Attached is the Arup memo dated January 5, 2011 with the plots of the survey records taken on December 9, 2010. 
These records show that the tower building has continued to settle at the same rate that has been observed for the past 
19 months (04/30/09 – 12/09/10). 
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
Sent: Monday, February 28, 2011 2:57 PM
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano
Cc: Rebecca Armenta
Subject: 301 Mission Street Settlement Readings February 2011
Attachments: 2011-02-24 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Feb 2011 Survey.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Categories: Adjacent Properties

Steven, 
Here are the latest plots of the settlement readings as recorded on February 4, 2011. 
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

Q:\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\117 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - FEB 2011 SURVEY\2011-02-24 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - FEB 
2011 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
February 24, 2011 

Copies Robert Beck (TJPA) 
Emilio Cruz (PMPC) 
Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242-60/SMM

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup)
Nick O'Riordan (Arup) 
Kevin Clinch (Arup) 

File reference 
4-05 117 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of February 2011 Settlement 
Survey at 301 Mission Property 

Page 1 of 1

   

Under Arup’s Geotechnical Contract with the Transbay Joint Powers Authority through Pelli Clark 
Pelli Architects, Arup is required to monitor the settlements of the buildings adjacent to the Transbay 
Transit Center prior to and during construction.  We began the monitoring program for the 301 Mission 
property in April of 2009.  This memorandum and the attached plates present an update to our 
memorandum dated January 5, 2011 with measurements made through February 2010.  

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – February 4, 2010 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – February 4, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and February 4, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through February 4, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through February 4, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 

Note Typo:  references to "2010"
on this page should read "2011"
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From: Brian Dykes
Sent: Tuesday, May 03, 2011 7:51 AM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: Rebecca Armenta
Subject: FW: TTC - 301 Mission Settlement - March 2011 Survey
Attachments: 2011-04-12 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - March 2011 Survey.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Categories: Adjacent Properties

Steve, 
Here are the settlement marker readings taken at the end of March. 
Sorry for the delay in sending them to you. 
Brian. 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, April 12, 2011 5:25 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Robert Beck; Emilio Cruz; 'rvolenec@pcparch.com'; George Metzger; Nick O'Riordan; Kevin Clinch; DeeDee Maggi 
Subject: TTC - 301 Mission Settlement - March 2011 Survey 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached pdf which is a revised version of the 301 Mission settlement memo based on our late 
March settlement marker readings.  This survey was originally scheduled for early April but was moved 
forward so we would have this reading a few days before the pile extraction began. 
 
Let me know if you have any questions. 
 
Cheers, 
Stephen 
 
 
Stephen McLandrich  PE 
Senior Engineer  |  Geotechnics Group 
 
Arup 
560 Mission Street  Suite 700  San Francisco CA  94105  USA 
t +1 415 957 9445  d +1 415 946 0245 
f +1 415 957 9096 
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



2

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

Q:\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\124 301 MISSION - MARCH SURVEY\2011-04-12 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - MARCH 2011 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
April 12, 2011 

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
4-05 124 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of March 2011 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated January 5, 2011 with measurements made through March 2010.  

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – March 24, 2010 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – March 24, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and March 24, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through March 24, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through March 24, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 

Note Typo:  References to "2010"
on this page should read "2011"
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From: Brian Dykes
Sent: Friday, June 24, 2011 3:37 PM
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano
Cc: Rebecca Armenta
Subject: Settlement Records at 301 Mission Street
Attachments: 2011-06-24 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - May 2011 Survey.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Categories: Adjacent Properties

Steve, 
Here is the report of the settlement readings taken on May 31, 2011.  
The next readings will be taken during the work week starting July 5th. 
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

Q:\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\136 301 MISSION - MAY SURVEY\2011-06-24 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - MAY 2011 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
June 24, 2011 

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
4-05 136 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of May 2011 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated April 12, 2011 with measurements made through May 2010.  

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – May 31, 2010 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – May 31, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and May 31, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through May 31, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through May 31, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 

Note Typo: references to "2010"
on this page should read "2011"
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From: Brian Dykes
Sent: Thursday, October 06, 2011 11:10 AM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: John Luciano
Subject: RE: Building Survey
Attachments: 2011-08-26 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - July 2011 Survey.pdf

Categories: Adjacent Properties

Steven, 
The surveyors were in the tower during the week ending September 9, which is on the two monthly schedule for these 
readings.  
I do not have the results, but expect them shortly.  
They will be passed on to you when I get them. 
The previous readings were taken on July 7 and I did not receive them until August 26 just before my vacation in Europe. 
I left verbal instructions for Arup to pass them to you.  
In case they did not follow through, I have attached a copy for you above. 
Brian.   
 

From: Steven Hood [mailto:shood@MillenniumPtrs.com]  
Sent: Thursday, October 06, 2011 10:32 AM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: John Luciano 
Subject: Building Survey 
 
Brian I noticed the surveyors were in the tower a couple of weeks ago, do you the results of their work and are you 
planning on sharing it?  
 
Steven C. Hood 
Millennium Partners 
301 Mission Street, Level B1 
San Francisco, CA  94105 
t 415.874.4707 f 415.874.4750 
 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
This email has been scanned by the MessageLabs Email Security System. 
For more information please visit http://www.messagelabs.com/email  
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

Q:\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\142 301 MISSION - JULY SURVEY\2011-08-26 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - JULY 2011 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
August 26, 2011 

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
4-05 142 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of July 2011 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated June 24, 2011 with measurements made through July 2011. 

Arup has installed an additional nine settlement markers in the floor at basement level B-5.  These 
settlement markers were surveyed three separate times in order to establish a baseline reading.  The 
results of this monitoring are presented in Plates 7 and 8 of this memorandum. 

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – July 7, 2010 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – July 7, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and July 7, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through July 7, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through July 7, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: July 7, Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: July 7, 2011 Survey 

Note Typo:  references to "2010"
on this page should readh "2011"
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From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Tuesday, October 11, 2011 8:25 AM
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano
Cc: Rebecca Armenta; Stephen McLandrich; Robert Beck
Subject: FW: 301 Mission - September Survey Results
Attachments: 2011-10-10 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - September 2011 Survey.pdf

Steven and John, 
Please see the attached memo which contains the settlement records taken on September 8, 2011. 
The total settlement curve on plate # 6 is still following the same rate as has been recorded since Arup started taking 
readings in April 2009.  
The maximum total settlement under the tower is now 10.5 inches. 
The settlement recorded between April 2009 and September 2011 as shown on plate # 4 is 1.8 inches at markers 9 & 14.
The next set of readings is scheduled to be taken early next month. 
Regards, Brian. 
 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Monday, October 10, 2011 5:39 PM 
To: Brian Dykes; Robert Beck; Emilio Cruz; 'Randy Volenec'; George Metzger 
Cc: Nick O'Riordan; Kevin Clinch; DeeDee Maggi 
Subject: 301 Mission - September Survey Results 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached memo which contains the latest results of the 301 Mission settlement marker survey. 
 
Note, I am NOT sending these memos directly to Steve Hood and John Luciano but I can if you would like. 
 
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
f +1 415 957 9096  c +1 415 310 1095 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\145 301 MISSION - SEPTEMBER SURVEY\2011-10-10 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - SEPTEMBER 
2011 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
10 October 2011 

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
4-05 145 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of September 2011 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated August 26, 2011 with measurements made through September 2011. 

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – September 8, 

2010
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – September 8, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and September 8, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through September 8, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through September 8, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: September 8, 2011 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: September 8, 2011 Survey 

Note Typo:  references to "2010"
on this page should read "2011"
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From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Friday, October 28, 2011 8:27 AM
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano
Cc: Robert Beck; Rebecca Armenta
Subject: FW: 301 Mission - October Survey
Attachments: 2011-10-25 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - October 2011 Survey.pdf

Steven and John, 
Attached above are the settlement readings taken on October 20, 2011.  
This set of readings was taken on the same day that we poured the concrete for the 12th buttress pile. 
I agree with the statement below that we have not found any increased settlements. 
Brian. 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, October 25, 2011 3:31 PM 
To: Brian Dykes; Robert Beck; Emilio Cruz; 'Randy Volenec'; George Metzger 
Cc: Nick O'Riordan; Kevin Clinch; DeeDee Maggi 
Subject: 301 Mission - October Survey 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached memo which summarizes the results of the October 20th survey of the settlement points 
in 301 Mission.  We accelerated the survey date about 2 to 3 weeks in order to catch any negative consequences 
from the buttress installation.  The results do not suggest an impact from the buttress construction activities. 
 
The next survey is scheduled for the week of December 19th. 
 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\146 301 MISSION - OCT 2011 SURVEY\2011-10-25 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - OCTOBER 2011 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
25 October 2011 

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
4-05 146 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of October 2011 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated October 25, 2011 with measurements made through October 2011. 

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – October 20, 

2010
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – October 20, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and October 20, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through October 20, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through October 20, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: October 20, 2011 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: October 20, 2011 Survey 

Note Typo:  should refer to "October 10, 2011" report

Note Typo:  references to "2010"
on this page should read "2011"



N

SM
-1

SM
-2

SM
-3

SM
-4

SM
-5

SM
-6

SM
-7

SM
-8

SM
-9

S
M

-1
0

S
M

-1
1

SM
-1

2

S
M

-1
3

S
M

-1
4

S
M

-1
5

S
M

-1
6S

M
-1

7

S
M

-1
8

S
M

-1
9

S
M

-2
0

S
M

-2
1

S
M

-2
2

S
M

-2
3

S
M

-2
4

S
M

-2
5

SM
-2

6

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

PG
&

E 
Va

ul
t

Tr
an

sb
ay

 T
er

m
in

al

Fremont Street

Beale Street

0
25

50
75

A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

e 
S

ca
le

: 1
" =

 2
5'

H
ig

h-
R

is
e 

To
w

er
M

id
-R

is
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

St
ru

ct
ur

e

C
on

to
ur

s 
re

pr
es

en
t e

le
va

tio
n,

 in
 fe

et
 (

C
C

S
F 

D
at

um
),

 fr
om

 s
ur

ve
y 

re
ad

in
gs

 ta
ke

n 
on

 O
ct

ob
er

 2
0,

 2
01

1.

Le
ve

l B
-1

 a
t M

id
-R

is
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

po
rti

on
 o

f s
ur

ve
y 

si
te

 is
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
4 

in
ch

es
 h

ig
he

r t
ha

n 
Le

ve
l B

-1
 a

t H
ig

h-
R

is
e 

To
w

er
 p

or
tio

n.

N
ot

es
:

Th
e 

PG
&E

 v
au

lt 
is

 in
ac

ce
ss

ib
le

 fo
r m

on
ito

rin
g.

H
IG

H
-R

IS
E 

TO
W

ER

LO
W

-R
IS

E 
TO

W
ER

D
at

e 
of

 S
ur

ve
y 

R
ea

di
ng

:
O

ct
ob

er
 2

0,
 2

01
1

M
is

si
on

 S
tre

et

   
S

M
-8

3 
   

S
et

tle
m

en
t M

ar
ke

r N
o.

 8
3

   
   

   
   

   
  (

M
ea

su
re

d 
by

 O
pt

ic
al

   
   

   
   

   
  S

ur
ve

y 
M

et
ho

ds
)

Le
ge

nd
: M

ax
im

um
 D

iff
er

en
tia

l

0.
20

4 
fe

et
(2

.4
47

 in
ch

es
)

0.
40

2 
fe

et
(4

.8
24

 in
ch

es
)

Lo
w

-R
is

e
To

w
er

H
ig

h-
R

is
e

To
w

er

H
ig

h 
Po

in
t

(-1
3.

08
6 

fe
et

)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-1

3.
29

0 
fe

et
)

Hi
gh

 P
oi

nt
(-1

3.
37

4 
fe

et
)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-1

3.
77

6 
fe

et
)

SM
-1

 ta
rg

et
 d

es
tro

ye
d

si
nc

e 
Ju

ly
 7

, 2
01

1 
su

rv
ey

.

S
an

 F
ra

nc
is

co
, C

al
ifo

rn
ia

Tr
an

sb
ay

 J
oi

nt
 P

ow
er

s 
A

ut
ho

rit
y

30
1 

M
is

si
on

 M
on

ito
rin

g
Tr

an
sb

ay
 T

ra
ns

it 
C

en
te

r

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

1

PL
A

TE
 1

FL
O

O
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S 
A

T 
LE

VE
L 

B
-1

O
F 

30
1 

M
IS

SI
O

N
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
:

PE
R

IO
D

IC
 S

U
R

VE
Y 

- O
C

TO
B

ER
 2

0,
 2

01
1

J:
\S

-F
\1

32
00

0\
13

22
42

\4
 In

te
rn

al
 P

ro
je

ct
 D

at
a\

4-
05

 R
ep

or
ts

 &
 N

ar
ra

tiv
es

\1
46

 3
01

 M
iss

io
n 

- O
ct

 2
01

1 
Su

rv
ey

\P
la

te
s\

El
ev

at
io

ns
 A

ll (
20

11
.1

0.
20

).s
rf



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

(-0
 in

ch
es

)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-2

.4
47

 in
ch

es
)

H
ig

h 
Po

in
t

(0
 in

ch
es

)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-4

.8
24

 in
ch

es
)

   
S

M
-8

3 
   

S
et

tle
m

en
t M

ar
ke

r N
o.

 8
3

   
   

   
   

   
  (

M
ea

su
re

d 
by

 O
pt

ic
al

   
   

   
   

   
  S

ur
ve

y 
M

et
ho

ds
)

Le
ge

nd
:

C
on

to
ur

s 
re

pr
es

en
t d

iff
er

en
tia

l e
le

va
tio

n,
 in

 in
ch

es
, b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

hi
gh

es
t p

oi
nt

 a
nd

 a
ll 

ot
he

r 
po

in
ts

 ta
ke

n 
on

 O
ct

ob
er

 2
0,

 2
01

1.

Le
ve

l B
-1

 a
t M

id
-R

is
e 

P
ar

ki
ng

 p
or

tio
n 

of
 s

ur
ve

y 
si

te
 is

 a
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

4 
in

ch
es

 h
ig

he
r t

ha
n 

Le
ve

l B
-1

 a
t H

ig
h-

R
is

e 
To

w
er

 p
or

tio
n.

N
ot

es
:

Th
e 

PG
&E

 v
au

lt 
is

 in
ac

ce
ss

ib
le

 fo
r m

on
ito

rin
g.

C
on

to
ur

 in
ve

rv
al

s 
ar

e 
di

ffe
re

nt
 b

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
IF

FE
R

EN
TI

A
L 

FL
O

O
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S 
(IN

C
H

ES
)

O
C

TO
B

ER
 2

0,
 2

01
1 

SU
R

VE
Y

J:
\S

-F
\1

32
00

0\
13

22
42

\4
 In

te
rn

al
 P

ro
je

ct
 D

at
a\

4-
05

 R
ep

or
ts

 &
 N

ar
ra

tiv
es

\1
46

 3
01

 M
iss

io
n 

- O
ct

 2
01

1 
Su

rv
ey

\P
la

te
s\

Di
ffe

re
nt

ia
l E

le
va

tio
n 

Al
l (

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
, i

n 
in

ch
es

, b
et

w
ee

n 
B

as
el

in
e 

su
rv

ey
 (

A
pr

il 
30

, 2
00

9)
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
eg

at
iv

e 
va

lu
es

 o
f s

et
tle

m
en

t (
w

ith
in

 L
ow

-r
is

e 
To

w
er

) i
nd

ic
at

e 
up

lif
t.

S
an

 F
ra

nc
is

co
, C

al
ifo

rn
ia

Tr
an

sb
ay

 J
oi

nt
 P

ow
er

s 
Au

th
or

ity
30

1 
M

is
si

on
 M

on
ito

rin
g

Tr
an

sb
ay

 T
ra

ns
it 

C
en

te
r

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

1

PL
A

TE
 3

C
O

N
TO

U
R

S 
O

F 
SE

TT
LE

M
EN

TS
 M

EA
SU

R
ED

 A
T 

TH
E

FI
R

ST
 L

EV
EL

 B
A

SE
M

EN
T 

O
F 

TH
E 

30
1 

M
IS

SI
O

N
 S

TR
EE

T
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
E 

B
ET

W
EE

N
 A

PR
IL

 3
0,

 2
00

9 
A

N
D

 O
C

TO
B

ER
 2

0,
 2

01
1

J:
\S

-F
\1

32
00

0\
13

22
42

\4
 In

te
rn

al
 P

ro
je

ct
 D

at
a\

4-
05

 R
ep

or
ts

 &
 N

ar
ra

tiv
es

\1
46

 3
01

 M
is

si
on

 - 
O

ct
 2

01
1 

Su
rv

ey
\P

la
te

s\
El

ev
at

io
n 

ch
an

ge
s 

Al
l (

20
11

.1
0.

20
).s

rf



J:
\S

-F
\1

32
00

0\
13

22
42

\4
 In

te
rn

al
 P

ro
je

ct
 D

at
a\

4-
05

 R
ep

or
ts

 &
 N

ar
ra

tiv
es

\1
46

 3
01

 M
is

si
on

 - 
O

ct
 2

01
1 

S
ur

ve
y\

Pl
at

es
\P

la
te

 4
 S

et
tle

m
en

t O
ve

r T
im

e 
- T

ow
er

.g
rf

0
10

0
20

0
30

0
40

0
50

0
60

0
70

0
80

0
90

0

Ti
m

e 
Fr

om
 S

ta
rt

 o
f M

on
ito

rin
g,

 D
ay

s

-2
.0

0

-1
.5

0

-1
.0

0

-0
.5

0

0.
00

0.
50

Settlement, inches

S
M

-1
S

M
-9

S
M

-1
4

S
M

-2
7

6/10/2009

7/7/2009

8/4/2009

9/1/2009

10/9/2009

11/5/2009

12/4/2009

12/31/2009

2/2/2010

3/1/2010

4/5/2010

5/3/2010

7/9/2010

9/30/2010

12/9/2010

2/4/2011

3/24/2011

5/31/2011

7/7/2011

9/8/2011

10/20/2011

N
ot

e:
In

iti
al

 (B
as

el
in

e)
 re

ad
in

g
ta

ke
n 

on
 0

4/
30

/0
9

TO
W

ER

N

M
id

-R
is

e

P
G

&
E 

V
au

ltS
M

-1

To
w

er
S

M
-9

S
M

-1
4

S
M

-2
7

S
an

 F
ra

nc
is

co
, C

al
ifo

rn
ia

Tr
an

sb
ay

 J
oi

nt
 P

ow
er

s 
A

ut
ho

rit
y

30
1 

M
is

si
on

 M
on

ito
rin

g
Tr

an
sb

ay
 T

ra
ns

it 
C

en
te

r

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

1

PL
A

TE
 4

SE
TT

LE
M

EN
T 

O
VE

R
 T

IM
E

FL
O

O
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S 
A

T 
LE

VE
L 

B
-1

O
F 

30
1 

M
IS

SI
O

N
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
- T

O
W

ER
:

A
PR

IL
 3

0,
 2

00
9 

TH
R

O
U

G
H

 O
C

TO
B

ER
 2

0,
 2

01
1

S
M

-1
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

re
m

ov
ed

as
 o

f J
ul

y 
7,

 2
01

1 
su

rv
ey

.



J:
\S

-F
\1

32
00

0\
13

22
42

\4
 In

te
rn

al
 P

ro
je

ct
 D

at
a\

4-
05

 R
ep

or
ts

 &
 N

ar
ra

tiv
es

\1
46

 3
01

 M
is

si
on

 - 
O

ct
 2

01
1 

S
ur

ve
y\

Pl
at

es
\P

la
te

 5
 S

et
tle

m
en

t O
ve

r T
im

e 
- M

id
ris

e.
gr

f

0
10

0
20

0
30

0
40

0
50

0
60

0
70

0
80

0
90

0

Ti
m

e 
Fr

om
 S

ta
rt

 o
f M

on
ito

rin
g,

 D
ay

s

-0
.7

5

-0
.5

0

-0
.2

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
ID

-R
IS

E

Sa
n 

Fr
an

ci
sc

o,
 C

al
ifo

rn
ia

Tr
an

sb
ay

 J
oi

nt
 P

ow
er

s 
Au

th
or

ity
30

1 
M

is
si

on
 M

on
ito

rin
g

Tr
an

sb
ay

 T
ra

ns
it 

C
en

te
r

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

1

PL
A

TE
 5

SE
TT

LE
M

EN
T 

O
VE

R
 T

IM
E

FL
O

O
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S 
A

T 
LE

VE
L 

B
-1

O
F 

30
1 

M
IS

SI
O

N
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
- M

ID
-R

IS
E:

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
ap

se
d 

Ti
m

e 
(lo

g 
sc

al
e)

, y
ea

rs

12
.5

10
.07.
5

5.
0

2.
5

0.
0

Settlement of the 301 Mission Tower, in

12
.5

10
.0

7.
5

5.
0

2.
5

0.
0

D
at

a 
So

ur
ce

 (S
ur

ve
yo

r)
W

eb
co

r (
M

ar
tin

 M
. R

on
)

A
ru

p 
(T

ow
ill

)

5.
9 

in
ch

es

S
an

 F
ra

nc
is

co
, C

al
ifo

rn
ia

Tr
an

sb
ay

 J
oi

nt
 P

ow
er

s 
A

ut
ho

rit
y

30
1 

M
is

si
on

 M
on

ito
rin

g
Tr

an
sb

ay
 T

ra
ns

it 
C

en
te

r

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

1

PL
A

TE
 6

SE
TT

LE
M

EN
TS

 O
F 

TH
E 

30
1 

M
IS

SI
O

N
 T

O
W

ER
IN

C
LU

D
IN

G
 M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
 D

U
R

IN
G

 C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
TI

O
N

8/9/07

8/9/08

8/9/09

8/9/10

8/9/11

8/9/12

8/9/13

8/9/16

9/15/06

2/9/07

8/9/14
8/9/15

B
eg

in
in

g 
of

 T
ow

er
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n:

 8
/9

/0
6

E
nd

 o
f T

ow
er

 C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n:
 2

/1
/0

8
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

D
ur

at
io

n:
 5

42
 d

ay
s 

(1
.5

 y
ea

rs
)

A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

e
C

om
pl

et
io

n 
of

To
w

er
 (2

/1
/0

8)



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

be
r 

8,
 2

01
1.

N
ot

es
:

LO
W

-R
IS

E 
TO

W
ER

D
at

e 
of

 S
ur

ve
y 

R
ea

di
ng

:
O

ct
ob

er
 2

0,
 2

01
1

M
is

si
on

 S
tre

et

   
S

M
-8

8 
   

S
et

tle
m

en
t M

ar
ke

r N
o.

 8
8

   
   

   
   

   
  (

M
ea

su
re

d 
by

 O
pt

ic
al

   
   

   
   

   
  S

ur
ve

y 
M

et
ho

ds
)

Le
ge

nd
: M

ax
im

um
 D

iff
er

en
tia

l

0.
27

1 
fe

et
(3

.2
52

 in
ch

es
)

B
-5

 L
ev

el
B

as
em

en
t

H
ig

h 
Po

in
t

(-4
9.

13
0 

fe
et

)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-4

9.
40

1 
fe

et
)

Sa
n 

Fr
an

ci
sc

o,
 C

al
ifo

rn
ia

Tr
an

sb
ay

 J
oi

nt
 P

ow
er

s 
A

ut
ho

rit
y

30
1 

M
is

si
on

 M
on

ito
rin

g
Tr

an
sb

ay
 T

ra
ns

it 
C

en
te

r

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

1

PL
A

TE
 7

FL
O

O
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

 A
T 

B
A

SE
M

EN
T 

LE
VE

L 
B

- 5
O

F 
30

1 
M

IS
SI

O
N

 P
R

O
PE

R
TY

: O
C

TO
B

ER
 2

0,
 2

01
1 

SU
R

VE
Y

J:
\S

-F
\1

32
00

0\
13

22
42

\4
 In

te
rn

al
 P

ro
je

ct
 D

at
a\

4-
05

 R
ep

or
ts

 &
 N

ar
ra

tiv
es

\1
46

 3
01

 M
is

si
on

 - 
O

ct
 2

01
1 

S
ur

ve
y\

Pl
at

es
\B

-5
 E

le
va

tio
ns

 (2
01

1.
10

.2
0)

.s
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
(-3

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

B-
5 

Di
ffe

re
nt

ia
l E

le
va

tio
ns

 (2
01

1.
10

.2
0)

.s
rf



1

From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Monday, January 23, 2012 3:52 PM
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano
Cc: Robert Beck; Nick O'Riordan; Stephen McLandrich; Rebecca Armenta
Subject: Monitoring Records at 301 Mission Street
Attachments: 2011-12-23 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - December 2011 Survey.pdf; 2012-01-20 

Memo_Crack Gauge Survey.pdf

Steve and John, 
 
Attached above are the following two memoranda from Arup: 

1. December 23rd memo on settlement marker readings which on plate 6 (page 7 of 9) show the same rate of 
settlement as recorded over the last 3 years.  

2. January 20th memo on crack gauge readings recorded in late December and early January which record the 
movements over the last 6 to 18 months since the gauges were installed. No significant movements were 
observed except at those markers highlighted in deep red on plates 1-4 (pages 14-18). Most of these highlighted 
crack widths increased by 0.5 mm in the zones towards the two southern corners of the tower basement. 
However, the maximum observed increase is 1.1 mm at Mission Street on the north side of the basement.  

 
Presently, Arup is preparing another series of memoranda which I expect to forward to you in early February. These will 
cover the following areas of measurements: 

1. Tape extensometers between building columns.  
2. Tilt meters inside the building.  
3. Utility crossings between the tower and the atrium.  
4. Utility penetrations from the sidewalks into the building.  
5. Inclinometer readings on the south outside the building.  
6. Piezometers reading ground water levels around the outside of the building.  
 

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
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J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\150 301 MISSION - DEC 2011 SURVEY\2011-12-23 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - DECEMBER 2011 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
23 December 2011 

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
4-05 150 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of December 2011 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated October 25, 2011 with measurements made through December 2011. 

Settlement Markers SM-01 and SM-02 were destroyed during patching of the floor in their locations.  
These two points will be replaced by four additional settlement markers, SM-97 through SM-100.  
Currently, only SM-97 and SM-98 have been installed due to additional floor patching work.  Their 
locations can be seen in the floor plan in Plate 1. 

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – December 14, 

2010
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – December 14, 2010 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and December 14, 2010 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through December 14, 2010. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through December 14, 2010 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: December 14, 2011 

Survey
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: December 14, 2011 Survey 

Note Typo:  references to "2010"
on this page should read "2011"
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From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Tuesday, March 20, 2012 10:19 AM
To: Steven Hood; John Luciano
Cc: Robert Beck; Ed Sum; Nick O'Riordan
Subject: FW: 301 Mission Monitoring - March Survey
Attachments: 2012-03-07 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - March 2012 Survey.pdf

Steve, 
Here are the latest settlement readings taken on March 7, 2011. 
As shown on plate 6, the total maximum settlement recorded to date is now almost 11 inches and the average rate has 
not changed over the last four years. 
Brian.  
  

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Monday, March 19, 2012 6:32 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Robert Beck; rvolenec@pcparch.com; George Metzger; Emilio Cruz; Nick O'Riordan; Kevin Clinch; DeeDee Maggi 
Subject: 301 Mission Monitoring - March Survey 
  
Brian, 
  
Here are the results of the latest monitoring survey of the settlement markers in the 301 Mission basement. 
  
Let me know if you have any questions. 
  
Regards, 
Stephen 
  
Stephen McLandrich  PE GE 
Senior Geotechnical Engineer 
  
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\160 301 MISSION - MAR 2011 SURVEY\2012-03-07 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - MARCH 2012 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
19 March 2012 

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
4-05 160 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of March 2012 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated December 23, 2011 with measurements made through March 2012. 

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – March 7, 2012 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – March 7, 2012 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and March 7, 2012 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through March 7, 2012. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through March 7, 2012 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: March 7, 2012 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: March 7, 2012 Survey 
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From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Wednesday, July 11, 2012 5:26 PM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: Stephen McLandrich; Robert Beck; Ed Sum; Nila Gonzales
Attachments: 2012-07-06 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Jun 2012 Survey.pdf

Steve, 
I have attached a July 6th memo from Arup which provides the latest set of settlement marker readings recorded in the 
basements at 301 Mission Street. 
  
The settlement under the tower as shown on plate 4 which has been measured by our surveyors over the last 3 years has 
added 2.5 inches. 
  
The total settlement as shown on plate 6 is now 11 inches, which includes 8.5 inches measured by your surveyor before 
we started recording in April 2009.    
  
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\174 301 MISSION - JUN 2012 SURVEY\2012-07-06 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - JUN 2012 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
6 July 2012 

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
4-05 174 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of June 2012 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated April 27, 2011 with measurements made through June 2012. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – June 13, 2012 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – June 13, 2012 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and June 13, 2012 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through June 13, 2012. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through June 13, 2012 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: June 13, 2012 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: June 13, 2012 Survey 

Note Typo:  should refer to "April 27, 2012" report
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From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Wednesday, August 22, 2012 2:52 PM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: Nick O'Riordan; Stephen McLandrich; Robert Beck; Ed Sum; Nila Gonzales
Subject: Inclinometer & Settlement Readings
Attachments: 2012-08-22 Memo_301 Mission Inclinometer Update Aug 2012.pdf; 2012-08-22 Memo_

301 Mission Settlement - Aug 2012 Survey.pdf

Steven, 
Further to our meeting on Thursday, August 16th I am sending you the attached memos regarding the inclinometer and 
settlement survey readings as of August 2012. 
Please forward them to other members of your team as you decide are appropriate. 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\181 301 MISSION - AUG 2012 SURVEY\2012-08-22 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - AUG 2012 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
22 August 2012 

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
4-05 181 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of August 2012 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated July 6, 2012 with measurements made through August 2012. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – August 13, 2012 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – August 13, 2012 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and August 13, 2012 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through August 13, 2012. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through August 13, 2012 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
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From: Brian Dykes  
Sent: Friday, November 16, 2012 1:46 PM 
To: Steven Hood 
Subject: Latest Settlement Readings at 301 Mission Street 
  
Steven, 
Attached is the latest set of settlement readings taken by Arup. 
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

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AMERICAS\JOBS\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\187 301 MISSION - OCT 2012 SURVEY\2012-11-06 MEMO_301 
MISSION SETTLEMENT - OCT 2012 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
06 November 2012 

Copies Robert Beck (TJPA) 
Emilio Cruz (PMPC) 
Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242-60/SMM

From Michael Gardner (Arup)     
Stephen McLandrich (Arup) 

File reference 
4-05 187 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of October 2012 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated August 22, 2012 with measurements made through October 2012. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – October 12, 

2012
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – October 12, 2012 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the First Level Basement of the 301 Mission Street 

Structure Between April 30, 2009 and October 12, 2012 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through October 12, 2012. 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through October 12, 2012 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: October 12, 2012 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: October 12, 2012 Survey 
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From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Monday, January 28, 2013 3:12 PM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: Robert Beck; Nila Gonzales
Subject: December Settlement Readings at 301 Mission Street
Attachments: 2013-01-17 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Dec 2012 Survey.pdf

Steve, 
Attached is the report of the settlement readings up to the latest survey taken on December 26, 2012. 
The next readings are scheduled to be taken in February 2013. 
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
Sent: Monday, June 17, 2013 1:46 PM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: Dennis Turchon; Robert Beck
Subject: 301 Mission Street Settlement Monitoring Feb/Mar 2013
Attachments: 2013-03-27 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Feb 2013 Survey.pdf; 301 Mission 

Monitoring Survey 021313.xls

Steve, 
Here are the survey monitoring readings of the raw data recorded on 2/13/13 and the memo from Arup dated 3/27/13. 
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
Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2013 5:35 PM 
To: 'Steven Hood' 
Cc: Dennis Turchon; Stephen McLandrich; 'Nick O'Riordan' 
Subject: 301 Mission Settlement Monitoring 
  
Steven, 
Here are the last two settlement monitoring memos from Arup and the raw data records for the same times. 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\212 301 MISSION - APRIL 2013 SURVEY\2013-06-28 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - APRIL 2013 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
28 June 2013 

Copies Robert Beck (TJPA) 
Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242-60/MHG

From Michael Gardner (Arup)     File reference 
4-05 212 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of April 2013 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated March 27, 2013 with measurements made through April 2013. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – April 19, 2013 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – April 19, 2013 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 and 04/19/2013 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through April 19, 2013 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through April 19, 2013 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: April 19, 2013 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: April 19, 2013 Survey 
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132242-60/MHG
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Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of June 2013 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated June 28, 2013 with measurements made through June 2013. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – June 3, 2013 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) – June 3, 2013 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 06/03/2013 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through June 3, 2013 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through June 3, 2013 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: June 3, 2013 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: June 3, 2013 Survey 
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From: Brian Dykes <bdykes@transbaycenter.org>
Sent: Wednesday, November 20, 2013 1:51 PM
To: Steven Hood
Subject: FW: TTC - 301 Mission October Survey Memo
Attachments: 2013-11-13 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Oct 2013 Survey.pdf

Steven, 
Here is the October settlement memorandum from Arup. I now have the raw data readings and will forward them next. 
Regards, Brian. 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, November 13, 2013 11:37 AM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Nick O'Riordan; Dennis Turchon; George Metzger; 'rvolenec@pcparch.com' (rvolenec@pcparch.com) 
Subject: TTC - 301 Mission October Survey Memo 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached memorandum which shows the October 2013 readings of the 301 Mission survey. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions. 
 
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
Sent: Thursday, January 09, 2014 3:24 PM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: Dennis Turchon; Mark Zabaneh; Stephen McLandrich <stephen.mclandrich@arup.com> 

(stephen.mclandrich@arup.com)
Subject: FW: TTC - 301 Mission December 2013 Survey Memo
Attachments: 2014-01-09 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Dec 2013 Survey.pdf; 301 Mission 

Monitoring Survey 12172013.xls

Steven, 
Here are the settlement marker readings taken on December 17, 2013. 
Stephen, 
Thanks for sending these settlement readings. Please also send me the latest inclinometer readings. 
Thanks, Brian. 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Thursday, January 09, 2014 2:58 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: 'rvolenec@pcparch.com' (rvolenec@pcparch.com); George Metzger; Nick O'Riordan; Jeff Dunn 
Subject: TTC - 301 Mission December 2013 Survey Memo 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached memo summarizing the latest monitoring data from the survey of the 301 Mission 
settlement markers. 
 
Additionally, I attach the raw files from the surveyor. 
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, March 04, 2014 4:38 PM 
To: 'Steven Hood' 
Cc: Stephen McLandrich; 'Nick O'Riordan' 
Subject: Meeting Request Regarding 301Mission Settlement 
  
Steve, 
I am responding to your letter dated February 26, 2014 requesting an early meeting between the engineers representing 
Millennium Properties and the TJPA.  
We are available to meet at 9am on March 11, 13, 14, 17 and 18. Please let us know your preferred day or days as soon 
as possible. 
In order to cover the number of items listed in your letter, please send us your Item 5 “Settlement curve as plotted by De 
Simone Consulting” this week so we can review it prior to the meeting. 
I have attached above the Arup Memo for survey results through February 13, 2013 and their excel spread sheet with the 
raw data. 
All bulk excavation was completed on February 7 and the last tie down micro pile was installed on February 28. 
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
Sent: Wednesday, May 07, 2014 3:23 PM
To: Steven Hood
Cc: Margie Cleland; Nila Gonzales
Subject: FW: 301 Mission Monitoring Memo - April Survey
Attachments: 2014-05-07 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Apr 2014 Survey.pdf; 301 Mission 

Monitoring Survey 04112014.xlsx

Steven, 
Here are the settlement readings taken on April 11, 2014. 
  
Margie, 
Please file this email and the attachments with the 201 Mission Street correspondence. 
  
Thanks, Brian. 
  

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, May 07, 2014 2:20 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: 'rvolenec@pcparch.com' (rvolenec@pcparch.com); George Metzger; Jeff Dunn; Nick O'Riordan 
Subject: 301 Mission Monitoring Memo - April Survey 
  
Brian, 
  
Please find the attached survey memo for the April 2014 survey.  Additionally, I attach the raw survey data as 
we have been sending this as well now. 
  
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
Sent: Friday, August 22, 2014 3:13 PM 
To: Steven Hood 
Subject: FW: TTC - 301 Mission June Survey 
 
Steve, 
This email and the attached settlement records were sent to me the day after I disconnected the email forwarding to my 
cell phone and left for a long vacation in France and England. I returned this week and have worked backwards through 
more than 800 emails. So I am now forwarding these results to you.  
I am sorry for the delay as it does not appear that anyone else on the copy list forwarded the readings to you. 
Regards, Brian. 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Thursday, July 24, 2014 10:39 AM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Dennis Turchon; Andrew W. Schwartz (schwartz@smwlaw.com); schexnayder@smwlaw.com; 
'rvolenec@pcparch.com' (rvolenec@pcparch.com); George Metzger; Nick O'Riordan; Jeff Dunn 
Subject: TTC - 301 Mission June Survey 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached 301 Mission settlement memo for the June survey.  We completed it last month 
however I forgot to transmit it to you until this morning.  Also, I attach the latest raw data file from the 
surveyor. 
 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\238 301 MISSION - JUNE 2014 SURVEY\2014-06-20 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - JUN 2014 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
June 27, 2014 

Copies Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup) File reference 
4-05 238 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of June 2014 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated May 7, 2014 with measurements made through June 2014. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – June 11, 2014 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) June 11, 2014 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 6/11/2014 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through June 11, 2014 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through June 11, 2014 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: June 11, 2014 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: June 11, 2014 Survey 
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From: Brian Dykes  
Sent: Monday, September 08, 2014 8:22 AM 
To: Steven Hood 
Cc: Margie Cleland 
Subject: FW: TTC - Latest 301 Mission monitoring memo - August readings 
 
Steve, 
Here is the latest set of survey readings taken on August 5, 2014. 
Margie, 
Please copy to the files. 
Thanks, Brian. 
  
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Thursday, September 04, 2014 5:32 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Andrew W. Schwartz (schwartz@smwlaw.com); George Metzger; 'rvolenec@pcparch.com' (rvolenec@pcparch.com); 
Nick O'Riordan; Jeff Dunn; DeeDee Maggi; Dennis Turchon 
Subject: TTC - Latest 301 Mission monitoring memo - August readings 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached monitoring memorandum and survey readings. 
 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\240 301 MISSION - AUGUST 2014 SURVEY\2014-09-04 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - AUG 2014 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
September 4, 2014 

Copies Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup) File reference 
4-05 240 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of August 2014 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated June 27, 2014 with measurements made through August 2014. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – August 5, 2014 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) August 5, 2014 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 8/5/2014 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through August 5, 2014 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through August 5, 2014 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: August 5, 2014 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: August 5, 2014 Survey 
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From: Brian Dykes  
Sent: Thursday, December 18, 2014 3:40 PM 
To: Steven Hood 
Cc: Margie Cleland 
Subject: FW: 301 Mission - October & December Survey 
 
Steve, 
Attached are the settlement survey results for October 21 and December 11, 2014. 
Brian. 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Thursday, December 11, 2014 12:12 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Dennis Turchon; 'rvolenec@pcparch.com' (rvolenec@pcparch.com); George Metzger; Nick O'Riordan; John Eddy 
Subject: 301 Mission - October & December Survey 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached survey memos for 301 Mission. 
 
When I opened the file from the October memo to create this December memo, I noticed that the October memo 
was not pdf’d and therefore we did not transmit it to you.  I am transmitting it now.  I have kept the date as 
October 21, 2014. 
 
Regarding inclinometers and piezometers, we continue to take periodic readings during the build-out.  We are 
not regularly publishing these intermediate readings however, at your request, we will publish all readings since 
the last memo which was October 17, 2014. 
 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\243 301 MISSION - OCTOBER 2014 SURVEY\2014-10-21 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - OCT 2014 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
October 21, 2014 

Copies Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup) File reference 
4-05 243 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of October 2014 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated September 4, 2014 with measurements made through October 2014. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – October 9, 2014 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) October 9, 2014 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 10/9/2014 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through October 9, 2014 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through October 9, 2014 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: October 9, 2014 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: October 9, 2014 Survey 
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Memorandum

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\246 301 MISSION - DECEMBER 2014 SURVEY\2014-12-11 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - DEC 2014 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
December 11, 2014 

Copies Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup) File reference 
4-05 243 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of December 2014 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated October 21, 2014 with measurements made through December 2014. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – December 3, 

2014
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) December 3, 2014 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 12/3/2014 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through December 3, 2014 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through December 3, 2014 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: December 3, 2014 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: December 3, 2014 Survey 
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From: Brian Dykes
Sent: Friday, March 06, 2015 11:01 AM
To: 'shood@MillenniumPtrs.com'
Cc: Margie Cleland; Dennis Turchon; Mark Zabaneh; Nila Gonzales
Subject: February Survey Readings
Attachments: 2015-03-04 Memo_301 Mission Settlement - Feb 2015 Survey.pdf; Raw Data 301 

Mission Sattlement Survey Feb 2015.xlsx; 2015-03-05 Memo_301 Mission 
Instruments.pdf

Steve, 
Here are the February settlement survey results memorandum and raw data, plus the instrument readings for 
inclinometers and piezometers. 
Regards, Brian. 
  
Margie, 
Please file these reports in the correspondence to Millennium Partners. 
Thanks, Brian. 
  
Brian Dykes 
Principal Engineer 
Transbay Joint Powers Authority 
201 Mission Street, Suite 2100 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
415 597 4617 phone 
415 597 4615 fax 
  

           
   Please consider the environment before printing this message. 

  
 
 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\249 301 MISSION - FEBRUARY 2015 SURVEY\2015-03-04 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - FEB 2015 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
March 4, 2015 

Copies Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup) File reference 
4-05 243 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of February 2015 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated December 11, 2014 with measurements made through February 2015. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – February 12, 

2015
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) February 12, 2015 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 02/12/2014 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through February 12, 2015 
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
Sent: Wednesday, April 22, 2015 3:37 PM 
To: 'shood@MillenniumPtrs.com' 
Cc: Stephen.mclandrich@arup.com 
Subject: Millennium Tower Survey Data 
  
Steve, 
Attached is a diagram and two tables on which are plotted the rate of movement of the Millennium Tower over time based 
on the data the TJPA has already provided to Millennium Partners. 
The data appears to show that the tilt of the Tower to the west is increasing. 
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
Sent: Wednesday, July 15, 2015 4:41 PM 
To: 'shood@MillenniumPtrs.com' 
Subject: FW: TTC - 301 Mission June 2015 Survey 
 
Steve, 
Here is the latest survey memorandum from Arup for the settlement readings taken in June 2015 together with the raw 
data values. 
Regards, Brian. 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, July 15, 2015 12:02 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Jeff Dunn 
Subject: TTC - 301 Mission June 2015 Survey 
 
Brian, 
 
Here is the memo for the June 2015 survey at 301 Mission as well as the raw values. 
 
We hope to get the inclinometer memo to you later this week, however, there are some inclinometers that need to be re-
done, so it may be next week. 
 
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
July 15, 2015 

Copies Randy Volenec (PCPA)
George Metzger (AAI)

Reference number
132242

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup)
Taki Vlasakakis (Arup)

File reference
4-05 251

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of June 2015 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated February 12, 2015 with measurements made through June 2015. 

List of Plates
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – June 4, 2015 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) June 4, 2015 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 6/4/2014 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through June 4, 2015 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through June 4, 2015 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: June 4, 2015 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: June 4, 2015 Survey 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AMERICAS\JOBS\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\252 301 MISSION - JUNE 2015 SURVEY\2015-07-15 MEMO_301 
MISSION SETTLEMENT - JUNE 2015 SURVEY.DOCX

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010

Note Typo: should refer to "March 4, 2015" report



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

Ce
nt

er

Fremont Street

Beale Street

0
25

50
75

A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

e 
S

ca
le

: 1
" =

 2
5'

H
ig

h-
R

is
e 

To
w

er
M

id
-R

is
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

St
ru

ct
ur

e

C
on

to
ur

s 
re

pr
es

en
t e

le
va

tio
n,

 in
 fe

et
 (

C
C

S
F 

D
at

um
),

 fr
om

 s
ur

ve
y 

re
ad

in
gs

 ta
ke

n 
on

 J
un

e 
4,

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

ne
 4

, 2
01

5

M
is

si
on

 S
tre

et

   
S

M
-8

3 
   

S
et

tle
m

en
t M

ar
ke

r N
o.

 8
3

   
   

   
   

   
  (

M
ea

su
re

d 
by

 O
pt

ic
al

   
   

   
   

   
  S

ur
ve

y 
M

et
ho

ds
)

Le
ge

nd
: M

ax
im

um
 D

iff
er

en
tia

l

0.
33

2 
fe

et
(3

.9
89

 in
ch

es
)

0.
49

7 
fe

et
(5

.9
58

 in
ch

es
)

M
id

-R
is

e
Pa

rk
in

g
H

ig
h-

R
is

e
To

w
er

H
ig

h 
Po

in
t

(-1
3.

10
3 

fe
et

)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-1

3.
43

6 
fe

et
)

Hi
gh

 P
oi

nt
(-1

3.
63

5 
fe

et
)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-1

4.
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
(-5

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
ba

y 
Jo

in
t 

Po
w

er
s 

Au
th

or
ity

30
1 

M
is

si
on

 M
on

ito
rin

g
T

ra
ns

ba
y 

T
ra

ns
it 

C
en

te
r

Ju
ly

 2
01

5

PL
A

TE
 2

D
IF

FE
R

EN
TI

A
L 

FL
O

O
R

 E
LE

V
AT

IO
N

S
 (I

NC
HE

S
)

Ju
ne

 4
, 2

01
5 

SU
RV

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

it y
30

1 
M

is
si

on
 M

on
ito

rin
g

Tr
an

sb
ay

 T
ra

ns
it 

C
en

te
r

Ju
ly

 2
01

5

PL
A

TE
 3

C
O

N
TO

UR
S

 O
F 

SE
TT

LE
M

EN
TS

 M
EA

SU
R

ED
 A

T 
TH

E
1S

T 
LE

V
EL

 B
A

SE
M

E
NT

 O
F 

TH
E 

30
1 

M
IS

S
IO

N 
S

T 
ST

R
U

CT
U

RE
 B

E
TW

E
EN

 0
4/

30
/2

00
9 

&
 6

/4
/2

01
5







ar
up

.c
om

\a
m

er
ic

as
\J

ob
s\

S
-F

\1
32

00
0\

13
22

42
\4

 In
te

rn
al

 P
ro

je
ct

 D
at

a\
4-

05
 R

ep
or

ts
 &

 N
ar

ra
tiv

es
\2

52
 3

01
 M

is
si

on
 - 

Ju
ne

 2
01

5 
S

ur
ve

y\
P

la
te

s\
FI

N
A

L 
P

la
te

s 
4 

5 
6

0.
1

1
10

0.
2

0.
3

0.
4

0.
5

0.
6

0.
7

0.
8

0.
9

2
3

4
5

6
7

8
9

El
ap

se
d 

Ti
m

e 
(lo

g 
sc

al
e)

, y
ea

rs

15129630

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
98

 in
ch

es
)

B
-5

 L
ev

el
B

as
em

en
t

H
ig

h 
Po

in
t

(-4
9.

15
1 

fe
et

)

Lo
w

 P
oi

nt
(-4

9.
55

1 
fe

et
)

S
an

 F
ra

nc
is

co
, 

C
al

ifo
rn

ia
T

ra
ns

ba
y 

Jo
in

t 
Po

w
er

s 
Au

th
or

ity
30

1 
M

is
si

on
 M

on
ito

rin
g

T
ra

ns
ba

y 
T

ra
ns

it 
C

en
te

r

Ju
ly

 2
01

5

P
LA

TE
 7

FL
O

O
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

 A
T 

B
AS

E
M

EN
T 

LE
V

E
L 

B-
5

O
F 

30
1 

M
IS

SI
O

N 
P

RO
PE

R
TY

: J
un

e 
4,

 2
01

5 
S

U
RV

EY



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

DI
FF

ER
EN

TI
AL

 F
LO

O
R 

EL
EV

AT
IO

NS
 (I

NC
HE

S)
AT

 B
AS

EM
EN

T 
LE

VE
L 

B-
5:

 J
UN

E 
6,

 2
01

5 
SU

RV
EY



1

From: Brian Dykes  
Sent: Wednesday, November 04, 2015 11:56 AM 
To: 'shood@MillenniumPtrs.com' 
Subject: FW: TTC - 301 Mission monitoring 
 
Steven, 
Here are the inclinometer and settlement survey readings taken in October. 
I have requested the raw data for the settlement and will forward that to you shortly. 
Brian. 
 

From: Stephen McLandrich [mailto:stephen.mclandrich@arup.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, November 03, 2015 5:23 PM 
To: Brian Dykes 
Cc: Jeff Dunn; Andrew Yeskoo 
Subject: TTC - 301 Mission monitoring 
 
Brian, 
 
Please find the attached memoranda which present the October reads of the survey targets and the inclinometers 
around 301 Mission. 
 
You will be receiving these memos from Andrew Yeskoo going forward.  Our next read is planned for February 
2016. 
 
Regards, 
Stephen 
 
-- 
Stephen McLandrich  PE  GE 
Senior Geotechnical Engineer 
 
Arup  
560 Mission Street  Suite 700  San Francisco  CA  94105  USA  



2

t: +1 415 957 9445  d: +1 415 946 0245 
m: +1 415 310 1095 
www.arup.com  
 
Explore innovation in the built environment on Doggerel   
 
 
 
 
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
 
 

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\255 301 MISSION - OCTOBER 2015 SURVEY\2015-10-30 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - OCTOBER 
2015 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 
 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
October 30, 2015 

Copies Randy Volenec (PCPA) 
George Metzger (AAI) 

Reference number 
132242 

From Stephen McLandrich (Arup) 
Andrew Yeskoo (Arup) 

File reference 
4-05 255 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of October 2015 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated July 15, 2015 with measurements made through October 2015. 
 
 
List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – October 5, 2015 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) October 5, 2015 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 04/30/2009 & 10/5/2014 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through October 5, 2015 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through October 5, 2015 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: October 5, 2015 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: October 5, 2015 Survey 
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From: Brian Dykes  
Sent: Tuesday, February 23, 2016 10:44 AM 
To: 'Steven Hood' 
Cc: 'Andrew Yeskoo'; Dennis Turchon; 'Edward T. Schexnayder'; Barbara Pemberton 
Subject:  
 
Steven, 
Here is the Arup Memorandum for the February 2016 settlement monitoring inside the 301 Mission Street property. Also 
included is the raw data provided by Towill Company, their surveyor. 
This week Arup is taking manual readings of the inclinometers and piezometers outside of your building and I expect to 
send you that information next week. 
Note that the next quarterly readings inside your building are due to be taken at the beginning of June, 2016.  
However, we are still awaiting the draft time extension to the entry agreement which you were going to provide in January.
The February readings were carried out based on a verbal agreement between the two of us. 
Please let me know when we can expect the document for review. 
Thanks, Brian. 
 
Barbara, 
Please print this message and the attachments in color for the correspondence file and also forward to the electronic file. 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\258 301 MISSION - FEBRUARY 2016 SURVEY\2016-02-19 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - FEBRUARY 
2016 SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
February 19, 2015 

Copies Reference number 
132242

From Andrew Yeskoo (Arup) File reference 
4-05 258 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of February 2016 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated October 30, 2015 with measurements made through February 2016. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – February 5, 2016 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) February 5, 2016 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 4/30/2009 & 2/5/2016 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through February 5, 2016 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through February 5, 2016 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: February 5, 2016 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: February 5, 2016 Survey 

Note Typo:
should read 
"2016"
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From: Brian Dykes  
Sent: Wednesday, June 22, 2016 8:48 AM 
To: 'Steven Hood' 
Cc: Mark Zabaneh; Nila Gonzales 
Subject: 301 Mission Street Settlement Readings 
 
Steven, 
Here is the June 16 settlement monitoring raw data from Towill and the memorandum report from Arup. Please ignore the 
incorrect label of February in the file name. The memo is dated June 16, 2016. 
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

J:\S-F\132000\132242\4 INTERNAL PROJECT DATA\4-05 REPORTS & NARRATIVES\260 301 MISSION - JUNE 2016 SURVEY\2016-06-16 MEMO_301 MISSION SETTLEMENT - FEBRUARY 2016 
SURVEY.DOCX 

Arup North America Ltd | F0.3 | July 2010 

To Brian Dykes (TJPA) Date 
June 16, 2016 

Copies Reference number 
132242

From Andrew Yeskoo (Arup) File reference 
4-05 260 

Subject Transbay Transit Center: Results of June 2016 Settlement 
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
memorandum dated February 19, 2016 with measurements made through June 2016. 

List of Plates 
Plate 1 Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property:  Periodic Survey – June 10, 2016 
Plate 2 Differential Floor Elevation (Inches) June 10, 2016 Survey 
Plate 3 Contours of Settlements Measured at the 1st Level Basement of the 301 Mission St. 

Structure Between 4/30/2009 & 6/10/2016 
Plate 4 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Tower:  

April 30, 2009 through June 10, 2016 
Plate 5 Settlement Over Time Floor Elevations at Level B-1 of 301 Mission Property – Mid-Rise:  

April 30, 2009 through June 10, 2016 
Plate 6 Settlements of the 301 Mission Tower Including Monitoring During Construction 
Plate 7 Floor Elevation at Basement Level B-5 of 301 Mission Property: June 10, 2016 Survey 
Plate 8 Differential Floor Elevations (Inches) at Basement Level B-5: June 10, 2016 Survey 
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